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Introduction





I have a rather curious relationship with Lionel Davidson.


Earlier this year, a publisher asked me if I’d be interested in writing a thriller in the style of Davidson’s masterpiece, Kolyms ky Heights. I had never heard of the title or the author and as I get quite a lot of approaches like this I fully intended to ignore it. But glancing at the book, I noticed that Philip Pullman was quoted on the cover: ‘The best thriller I’ve ever read.’ And so I decided to take a look.


He was right. Kolymsky Heights was quite brilliant . . . raw, intense, incredibly suspenseful. It took me back to the sort of thrillers I’d loved as a boy – Eric Ambler, John Buchan, Alistair MacLean – although in truth it was better written than any of them. After I’d finished it, I was keen to read more of Davidson’s work and managed to find a copy of The Rose of Tibet in a second-hand bookshop. I devoured it. And literally one day after I’d finished it, another publisher contacted me and asked me if I’d be interested in writing this introduction. How could I refuse?


Pullman describes Kolymsky Heights as a classic quest adventure in three parts, similar in some ways to Tolkien’s Lord of the Rings. A hero is sent to an impossibly remote place. He has to travel there, perform a task and then get back again. The Rose of Tibet has much the same shape, the destination being a monastery in Yamdring on the wrong side of the Himalayas. But this time the hero, a failed artist called Charles Houston, searching for his missing brother, is clearly not up to the job. He’s broke, he’s out of shape, he smokes too much. When he engages a seventeen-year-old Sherpa to guide him across the mountains, the boy takes one look at him: ‘I don’t know if you could manage it, sahib.’


He almost doesn’t. Perhaps I should put a spoiler alert in here and advise you to return to this introduction when you’ve finished the novel. The truth is, nobody in their right mind would want to be a hero in a Lionel Davidson novel. I have never encountered an author who is so brilliant at describing human suffering. Poor Houston has everything thrown against him. There’s extreme cold, altitude sickness that causes near heart failure at fourteen thousand feet, festering sores and blisters, immersion in rushing, icy water, starvation, a sixty-foot fall on the back of a horse and an encounter with a bear which is almost too gruelling to read. He spends several weeks holed up, quite literally, in the hermit hole of Bukhri-bo, deep in the mountains, and as he lingers there, trapped, with diminishing food supplies, you feel every minute of his pain. Everything is against him. Tibetan superstition and prophecy swirl around like poisonous mists, steering the action. By the end of the book (it’s set in 1950), the entire Chinese army is searching for him and we are spared none of the horror: ‘The woman was raped four times more after lunch, and twice towards dark by the wireless operator, who had been missing his share.’


That said, there is much more to The Rose of Tibet than violence and suffering. At the heart of the story is a remarkable love affair and a huge treasure reached by a secret passage whose method of entry you will not forget. All of these evoke Rider Haggard and I still wonder how Davidson manages to make his fantastical descriptions feel so real. As far as I know, he never travelled to any of the places he describes but I can still see the glow of the butter lamps that seem to burn throughout Tibet and taste the tsampa (ground barley) which provides the staple diet.


There is also a wonderful array of unforgettable characters to meet along the way. The enormously fat trader, Michaelson, who helps Houston on his journey. The nervous, ultimately doomed governor of Hodzo and the very unlikely, almost comical Duke of Ganzing. And then, of course, there is the Rose of Tibet herself, Mei-Hua, prisoner, priestess, she-devil and lover. But for me the most touching relationship in the book is that between Houston and the boy who guides him into the mountains, Ringling. It’s not one of friendship so much as mutual need but ultimately there’s a sort of tenderness there. It doesn’t end well, of course.


Lionel Davidson himself makes an appearance in the book. He turns up as an editor who, in the prologue, is approached by a Latin teacher. This man, Mr Oliphant, has been working on an unpublishable Latin primer and in the course of their meetings hands over Charles Houston’s story, contained in four ‘shiny red exercise books’. I have to say that this framing device is by far the least satisfactory part of The Rose of Tibet and I only mention it because I fear it may put off some readers. But it is just a framing device. The picture inside is what counts.


I still know very little about Lionel Davidson and, to be honest, Wikipedia wasn’t much help. When he started writing in the late fifties, he was a freelance journalist. He had also been an office boy at the Spectator. He won the Crime Writers’ Association’s Gold Dagger award three times (for The Night of Wenceslas, A Long Way to Shiloh and The Chelsea Murders), but something seems to have gone wrong because after his third win he didn’t write another thriller for sixteen years. Then came Kolymsky Heights, published in 1994. And that was it. Although Graham Greene was a great admirer (‘I hadn’t realised how much I had missed the genuine adventure story . . . until I read The Rose of Tibet’) he was completely forgotten after his death in 2009 and it’s only now that he is once again being reassessed.


But here’s one thing that I did learn. Lionel Davidson also wrote children’s books under the pseudonym ‘David Line’. One of these was called Run for Your Life and it was published in 1966, when I was eleven. And, do you know, I read it. I absolutely loved it and I rather hope that one day somebody will reissue that too. Without knowing it, Lionel Davidson had been a huge part of my writing life. It’s good to have him back.


Anthony Horowitz

















Prologue





The decision to call this book The Rose of Tibet was made at a fairly late date and at the behest of our managing director, Mr Theodore Links. I write ‘our’ not in the editorial plural, but because I happen to work for the firm. I am an editor of it. I have been an editor, with this and other publishing firms, for eight years. My name is Lionel Davidson.


It seems necessary to establish all this with crystal clarity because what follows is, as one of the manuscript readers has written, ‘. . . a bit on the weird side’. It is, however, mostly true: it is because it is only mostly true that a few introductory words are called for.


Charles Duguid Houston left England for India on 25 January 1950, and returned on 16 June 1951. Interested students can find a report of the latter event in the 17 June issues of the Sunday Graphic and the Empire News, the only two organs who noticed it. (They will have to go to the British Museum Newspaper Library at Colindale, London NW9, to do so, however, since both of these papers, like many of the principals in this story, are now defunct.)


He returned on a stretcher, with a sensational story to tell if anybody had been able to get him to tell it. The fact that nobody did is due less, perhaps, to his own discretion than to the interesting state of the world that month.


In the month of June 1951, the abbreviated newspapers of the time were trying to cover the Korean war, the sinking of the submarine Affray, the search for Burgess and Maclean, and the iniquities of Dr Mossadeq, whose government was busy nationalising the oil refineries of Abadan. In England King George VI was convalescing after an operation, in Capri King Farouk honeymooning with Narriman, in Westminster the Minister of Food cautiously forecasting an increase in the meat ration to 2s. 4d., and everywhere a large concern being expressed at the future of Yasmin and who would control it, Aly or Rita. Several murders were committed. The Festival of Britain shone bravely in the rain. The Marquis of Blandford got himself engaged.


With such an embarrassment of riches, the newspapers had little space to spare for Houston, and so far as can be ascertained no single follow-up was made as a result of the item published in the two Sundays. It was not an uninteresting item. (It showed twenty-nine-year-old Charles Houston, former art teacher and resident of Baron’s Court, London W, being carried on a stretcher from the Calcutta plane with injuries sustained during the recent fighting in Tibet.) And yet it was not a very unusual one either. Former residents of London W, and Glasgow S, and Manchester C, were being flown in pretty regularly at the time, and from the same general direction, with injuries sustained in far more recent and newsworthy circumstances.


Not even the West London Gazette thought to send a representative to the London Clinic (where Houston was taken directly from the airport) to inquire after the health of this former resident.


He was thus left quite alone at a time when as a result of shock he might have been prevailed upon to tell his story; a quirk of fate that will, one hopes, benefit an increasing number of classically minded youths from about 1966 onwards.


While his restless contemporaries were thus holding the stage, Houston was able to pass the month fairly quietly. He had his right arm off. He sought release with morphia drugs from painful memories. Only occasionally did he worry about the disposition of his half million pounds.


The fact of the half million pounds was later, however, to worry a great many other people: it is one of the reasons why this book must be only mostly true.




*





‘Why so touchy?’ reads the memo in Mr Theodore Links’s handwriting, which lies before me. ‘I have said I liked it, and I still do. But it will satisfy R.B. if we can in some way “treat” the passages underlined. Also I feel strongly we shd go out for a fictional kind of title for the same reason. What is wrong with (d)? It is immensely more attractive than the factual ones. Also who is over-riding O’s wishes? I seem to remember only one over-riding wish! But if you feel so strongly do a little foreword explg the book and its backgd . . .’


Taking the abbreviations in order, R .B. is Rosenthal Brown, our lawyers, who have needed on the whole a good deal of satisfying about this manuscript; (d) the present title – The Rose of Tibet; and O . . . Ο is Mr Oliphant. Without Mr Oliphant there would not be a book. It is Mr Oliphant indeed who constitutes the backgd.




*





I do not know when Mr Oliphant first took to writing his Latin primer, but in the first of the two letters I have from him in my file he says, ‘It is the result of many years of careful work, and incorporates, as you will see, most of the useful suggestions you so kindly made some time ago.’


This letter reached me, with the primer, in May 1959.


I said to my secretary, ‘Miss Marks, who is F. Neil Oliphant and when did I make him some suggestions about a Latin primer?’


Miss Marks looked up from her typewriter and began to pat her face with both hands (a habit of hers when labouring under some anxiety which she will not mind my mentioning).


She said, ‘Oh. Yes. That wasn’t you. That was Mr ——’ (a predecessor of mine).


‘Have we ever published any Latin primers?’


‘No. He thought we might like to – Mr Oliphant did. He has a new way of teaching Latin.’


‘Who is Mr Oliphant?’


‘He is a Latin teacher.’


Miss Marks’s face had turned a shade of pink at this unexceptionable statement.


I said, ‘Where does he teach?’


‘He used to at the Edith Road Girls’ Secondary in Fulham.’


‘At the which?’


‘The Edith Road . . . It’s an excellent school,’ Miss Marks said. ‘It’s one of the best girls’ day schools in the country. The academic record is quite outstanding.’


I began to see possible reasons for Miss Marks’s staunch championship of this school, and also for her anxiety.


‘I was there myself, actually,’ she said, confirming them.


‘Oh, really?’


‘Yes . . . Look, I’m sorry about this,’ said Miss Marks with a rush, becoming, with every moment, pinker. ‘I’ve sort of kept up with him. He’s a nice old man. He happened to mention once that he was writing this book, and he didn’t know anything about publishing or anything . . . I mean, I told him, naturally, that I wasn’t in a position to guarantee—’


‘That’s all right, Miss Marks. Do we have a copy of the correspondence?’


‘Mr Links would have it. He took it over when Mr —— left.’


‘Oh. Why did he do that?’


‘Because it was all his fault, really,’ Miss Marks said.


She explained why.


It seemed that Mr Oliphant’s primer had come in first in 1955. Mr —— had promptly rejected it, and that would have been the end if T.L. had not happened to come into the room while it was still lying in his out-tray. T.L. had been having at the time one of his not uncommon raves; on this occasion for the mental-disciplinary benefits of a classical language. He thought that Mr Oliphant’s book had something. The book had gone out to a specialist reader, who thought otherwise. None the less, T.L. had suggested a number of amendments to Mr Oliphant. The amended book had reappeared in 1957. By this time, T.L. had lost his earlier enthusiasm, but he felt a certain uneasy responsibility for Mr Oliphant’s two years of additional work. Had the book been then even remotely publishable, he would have published it. But it was not. It had gone back with further suggestions.


These were the suggestions now incorporated in Mr Oliphant’s latest work.


I said, ‘Well, that’s easily settled. Let’s just bung it through to T.L.’


‘I don’t think that would be a very good idea,’ Miss Marks said. ‘He was in a bit of a temper with it last time.’


‘But I don’t know anything about it.’


‘No,’ Miss Marks said, patting unhappily.


It was at this point that I spotted a fortunate flaw. Three consecutive chapters of Mr Oliphant’s book were headed What the Science University Entrant Needs to Know, (I), (II), and (III). Even with my own limited knowledge of the subject I was aware that Science University Entrants did not now need to know any Latin; there had lately been a considerable discussion about it in the Press with some fierce broadsides from Mr Oliphant’s Latin-teaching colleagues.


I said, ‘Your Mr Oliphant doesn’t keep up with the news much, does he?’ and told her why.


‘Oh, dear,’ Miss Marks said sadly. ‘That poor old man.’


‘How old is he?’


‘He must be getting on for eighty now.’


‘H’m.’


On form, it seemed to take Mr Oliphant two years to rewrite. In the natural order of things it was unlikely that he would be doing so many times more . . . Any solution that would not involve dashing, once and for all, an old man’s hopes, would be a charitable one.


I said, ‘Look, Miss Marks, write him a letter,’ and told her what to put in it. ‘Make it a nice one. I’ll sign it.’


I didn’t, however, have to. That very afternoon, Mr Oliphant telephoned. Perhaps somebody had put him right about Science University Entrants. He asked for his book back. Miss Marks and I exchanged a look of relief as she replaced the telephone. I had been listening on the other one.




*





Our relief was short-lived. For with only three chapters to attend to instead of a whole book, and perhaps with some intimations of mortality rustling in his ears, Mr Oliphant went into top gear. Just four months later, in October 1959, the familiar primer came homing in once more.


It came at a time when I was inclined to view the problems of authorship with a certain kindly sympathy. My first book The Night of Wenceslas (Gollancz, 13s. 6d.) was awaiting publication. I had been shown the various niggles of the manuscript readers. I hated the manuscript readers. Manuscript readers, non-creative people generally, it seemed to me, should try and create something – anything – some tiny thing; then we could hear further from them. It was iniquitous, it seemed to me, that such people should sit in judgement on the works of creative people. To spin something out of nothing, to put something together, to make something quite new in the world – this was an admirable, a laborious task. The people who did it, it seemed to me, should be given votes of thanks, slapped on the back, not subjected to a barrage of vile criticism for their pains.


In this frame of mind, Mr Oliphant became my brother. I regarded his work with the warmest admiration. He had had it all typed out again, which was certainly a point in its favour. His hand-written corrections were neat and unobtrusive. He had fussed about with colons and semi-colons in a way which made my heart go out to him. And moreover, so long as the reader brought a little effort to the job – a millionth part perhaps of that lavished by Mr Oliphant on his – he could very easily pick up a little Latin from it. Why, after all, should we not publish such a book? We published 124 books a year. Why not Mr Oliphant’s?


I did not, however, as the heart dictated, send the manuscript directly to the printer’s. I sent it out to the reader again.


The reader was not waiting to have a book published.


He regarded Mr Oliphant’s work with something less than my own admiration.


He said it was written in a style of pedantic facetiousness that had gone out at the turn of the century. He said the exposition was pitched far above the comprehension of a modern schoolboy, and the wit far below. So far as he was able to judge it was aimed at an audience of unsophisticated cryptologists aged about seventy.


I took this report in to Mr Links. I couldn’t see what else was to be done with it.


He gnawed his lip as he read it. He turned to the manuscript. ‘There was something here,’ he muttered, leafing through. ‘I remember I got quite a flash from it . . . I told him adult education – the discipline of a classical language for adults . . .’


‘Well, that’s what he seems to have done,’ I said. ‘You’ll see here in ——’s report, he says the book is aimed at – at quite mature people.’


‘It won’t do,’ he said. ‘No, no . . . Oh, my God! . . . You know, this is my fault, not his. I thought he could do it . . . My mistake.’


‘Well, what’s to be done about it,’ I said, in the silence.


‘I don’t know.’


‘We can’t publish it as it is.’


‘We can’t publish it whatever he does.’


‘Who does publish primers?’


‘Macmillan, Longmans . . . The snag is, it isn’t a primer now.’


‘Would an agent take him on?’


‘With this? . . . Look, see if he’s still got his first version. There was something there. I saw it. Help him with it. I don’t think it’s anything for us – I’m sure it isn’t now. But after all . . . Give him the right outline. See if someone in the office can rough it in for him. I’ll look at it myself if you like. And then we’ll see. We’ll get it in a publishable state for him, anyway.’


This assignment – to tell my brother Oliphant that his four years of work had been wasted and that all we could do now was to show him how to write a book that we didn’t intend to publish – seemed to me a highly unpleasant one. I said as much.


‘I don’t see how I can possibly put all this in a letter,’ I ended.


‘No. No. I don’t think you should. I wasn’t suggesting it. As I remember, he’s quite an old man. Go and see him. It will be a nice gesture.’


I said, with extreme reluctance, ‘Of course, if you think I should . . .’


‘Certainly. It will be much easier face to face. You know,’ he said, returning the manuscript, ‘there’s not a bad lesson in publishing here. It’s fatally easy to encourage the wrong people. You’ve got to be on guard all the time. Kindness,’ he said, seeing my hesitations, ‘is no help – to the author or to the publisher. It can be a very cruel thing.’


‘You don’t think’, I said, fumbling, ‘we should let him have another go, off his own bat. I hear he’s getting on for eighty now . . .’


T.L. blew down his pipe for a bit and shook his head. He said slowly, ‘We can’t do that. We can’t do it . . . You know, I wasn’t wrong to begin with. There was something there, a tiny kernel. Someone could publish it. Let him have that pleasure before he dies.’


‘All right,’ I said.


Mr Oliphant lived in Fitzmaurice Mansions, Fitzmaurice Crescent, Baron’s Court. I rang him up that afternoon and drove out the following one.


Fitzmaurice Mansions turned out to be a vast ornamented Edwardian pile in reddish-orange stone. I went up very slowly to the second floor in a little dark lift with a highly complicated arrangement of folding doors. There was no window on the landing, and the light wouldn’t work. I fumbled around looking for number 62a.


Two half-pint bottles of milk stood outside the door, and the morning paper was still jammed in the letter-box. I rang the bell, and a minute or two later had to do so again.


There was presently a shuffling noise inside. I braced myself as the door opened. A tall, thin, bent man in a dressing-gown looked out.


‘Is it Mr Davidson?’


‘That’s right.’


‘Come in. I hope you haven’t been waiting long. I dozed off.’


I had my hand outstretched, but he didn’t seem to see it. He reached beyond me for the milk and the newspaper. There was a peculiar smell inside, the smell of old people who live in close places.


He closed the door behind me. ‘I’ve not been too well lately. I was having a little nap.’


‘I’m sorry to have disturbed you.’


‘Not a bit. Not the least little bit. Through here. I’ve been looking forward to it. I don’t know how I happened to go off like that.’


In the light it was possible to see that Mr Oliphant was exceptionally grimy. He looked ill and unkempt. His face was immensely long and thin like a greyhound’s; and at the moment much in need of a shave. He put the milk and the newspaper down, pulled his grey stuff dressing-gown more closely round him and slicked down his sparse hairs.


‘I’m sorry you have to find me like this. I meant to clear up a bit,’ he said, looking round at the terrible confusion of clothes and bedding and old meals. We seemed to be in his bedroom. ‘I thought I would just rest for a minute or two after lunch. I had no sleep last night.’


‘I’m sorry to hear that,’ I said, somewhat nasally, for I was trying to breathe through my mouth in the appalling stench of the room. ‘What’s the trouble?’


‘Bronchial. I get it every year about this time. Hard to breathe, you know,’ he said, tapping his throat.


His breath did seem to be whistling a bit. There was a faint, soft suggestion of Ireland in his voice. I said, ‘If you would like to put this off to another day, Mr Oliphant – there’s quite a lot to talk about.’


‘No, no. I wouldn’t hear of it, my dear fellow. I’m only sorry for all this. Let me get you something. What can I get you? We haven’t shaken hands or anything . . .’ he said, holding out with embarrassment his own skeletal and by no means clean one.


I shook it. I refused refreshment. He pulled up a couple of chairs to an electric fire, and we began to talk.


There was not, after all, very much to talk about. For despite his apparent senility, Mr Oliphant had kept his marbles in very fair trim: he summed up the situation in a trice and at once with an old-fashioned and perhaps racial courtesy began to ease it for me.


‘Your Mr Links is a man of enthusiasms,’ he said. ‘I like that in a man. He sent me a splendid letter when I first completed the book. I’m sorry he’s not so keen on this version.’


‘Yes. Well. That’s one of the things—’


‘Oh, not that I blame him. I couldn’t get very enthusiastic about it myself. I’m sorry about the science students. I put that material in to try and broaden it . . . But the first version wasn’t bad, you know, and he spotted it. I didn’t think anybody would. It wasn’t the normal run of Latin reader. Just as a matter of interest, Mr Davidson, why was he so interested?’


I said, in a bit of a panic, because just at that moment I’d forgotten, ‘Why, because he appreciated the basic idea – the idea of a dead language becoming, what shall I say . . .’


Mr Oliphant told me gently what I should say. ‘A kind of mental discipline for adults . . . ?’


‘Precisely,’ I said, and elaborated gratefully on this type of discipline.


‘Yes,’ Mr Oliphant said. ‘I ask because naturally after a lifetime of dealing with Latin works of one sort or another I do not recall ever seeing your imprint on one of them. It was entirely because of Doris Marks – how is that dear girl, by the way?’


‘Fine. Fine. She sends her warm regards. That leads us to a point, Mr Oliphant. It’s a fact that we don’t publish Latin works. It isn’t really our preserve at all. What Mr Links now feels – what we all feel,’ I said, with acute embarrassment, and went on to tell him.


The old man sat and breathed heavily.


‘We would like to give you every kind of assistance with it – secretarial, technical, anything you might need. There have been a lot of changes in the educational field in the past few years – changes that you wouldn’t perhaps know about – but I haven’t the slightest doubt—’


‘Yes. Yes. It’s uncommonly good of you. I’m very grateful. I really am,’ he said, smiling at me. ‘I’ll think about it very seriously. But I doubt if I can get any work done this winter. I’m going to have a rest this winter. I’ll look at it again in the spring. All the same,’ he said, laughing, ‘I have a feeling I might be too old a dog to learn new tricks. If I had any of my own teeth, I would say I was getting too long—’


He stopped. His expression changed. He began to cough. It was the most extraordinary cough I had ever heard in my life, and for a moment I couldn’t believe it was coming from him. It sounded like a klaxon, and from the way he bounced up and down in the chair, as if he were setting it on and off.


I got up in alarm and patted him on the back. He began waving his hands towards the bed presently, and I looked around and saw bottles on his bedside table, and brought them all to him with a spoon. He pointed one out with a shaking hand, and I uncorked it and poured him out a spoonful – and one for the carpet in my excitement – and got it in his mouth. He managed to control himself for a moment, and presently began pointing silently under the bed.


With some horror, I got down on my knees and poked about there. There was a plastic bowl covered with a cloth. I got it out and gave him it – I have to admit with the cloth still on – and he uncovered it and spat.


‘I’m very sorry about this,’ he said feebly after a few minutes. ‘I shouldn’t have laughed. No, leave it out. Leave it here. I might need it again.’


‘Is there anything I can do for you?’


‘Nothing. Someone is coming to see me later with some things I need. Please don’t worry. Sit down. It goes off quite soon.’


I sat down, very gingerly.


‘I think on reflection, you know,’ he said presently, as if he’d been thinking about it all the time, ‘that I won’t take advantage of your very kind offer. I’ll let sleeping dogs lie. At my time of life, after all . . .’ he said, beginning a dangerous smile.


‘I’m sure you’ll decide differently when you’ve thought about it,’ I said, watching him nervously. ‘Perhaps you’ll let me come and talk to you about it again in a few weeks.’


‘Of course, my dear fellow. It’s very good of you. But I don’t think you’ll get me to change my mind. You see, you won’t want to publish the book yourselves – for reasons I quite understand – and that would rather take the gilt off it for me. I’m going to tell you a secret,’ he said, his smile becoming a little sheepish. ‘I started that book out of vanity.’


‘Vanity, Mr Oliphant?’


‘Vanity. I met Doris – Miss Marks – at a school get-together and for some reason I told her I was writing it. I wasn’t, actually. It had occurred to me just at that moment. I suppose I wanted to impress her. Living alone, one’s tongue tends to run away in company . . . I meant to tell her, when it was published, how she had inspired it . . . Well, it isn’t a very serious loss.’


‘There’s no reason why it should be a loss at all.’


He wasn’t really attending to me. He was still looking at me and smiling, but his smile had become somehow – sly. His tongue moved round his lips.


‘I expect you would very much sooner publish works in a living tongue,’ he said.


‘Well, that’s our business, Mr Oliphant.’


‘I expect you would very much sooner publish a story like Houston’s,’ he said in the same tone.


I didn’t know what he was talking about. He didn’t seem to be talking to me at all.


He got up and began rummaging in the bed. Two shiny red exercise books were buried in the eiderdown, and two more were under the pillow.


‘I’ve just been re-reading it,’ he said. ‘I had the idea some years ago of writing it myself, but I was busy with my Latin reader. I doubt if I ever will now. Would you like to read it?’


‘What is it?’


‘It’s Houston’s account of what happened to him in Tibet.’


He was handing me the exercise books, so I took them, Mr Theodore Links’s words ringing ominously in my ears. ‘Kindness is no help to the author or to the publisher. It can be a very cruel thing.’


I said, ‘You know, I’m not sure if this is our kind of thing at all, Mr Oliphant. We do very little travel.’


‘I wouldn’t call it a traveller’s tale,’ he said. ‘I don’t know what I’d call it. It’s certainly very odd.’


I was racking my brains as I leafed through, trying to think who the mysterious Houston was. Phrases came up at me – in what looked suspiciously like Mr Oliphant’s own neat handwriting – from the ruled lines.


‘. . . doss house like an enormous catacomb, a great cliff of a place with little stone rooms flickering in the light of butter lamps . . .’


‘. . . simply took off all his clothes and jewels and gave them away . . .’


‘. . . kept out of the way all day and biked on to Kanchenjunga . . .’


‘. . . to Darjeeling left luggage office, where so far as I know . . .’


‘. . . so badly beaten up I knew I was crippled, but I had to . . .’


I said, ‘Mr Oliphant – if you could just refresh me – who actually was Houston?’


‘He is a very dear friend of mine. We used to teach at the same school.’


‘He went to Tibet on – am I right? – a bicycle?’


‘Yes. Well. Mainly,’ Mr Oliphant said.


‘I wonder why nothing has been published about it.’


Mr Oliphant offered several possible reasons for this omission. He watched the effect of them on me, still smiling rather slyly.


‘I thought you’d like it,’ he said.


‘It certainly sounds a remarkable story.’


‘More stimulating than those of ancient Rome, say.’


‘Well. Different.’


‘Yes,’ he said, enjoying himself. ‘Yes, I thought you’d take that view.’


‘Who wrote it?’


‘I did,’ said Mr Oliphant. ‘He dictated it to me. He hadn’t learned to use his left hand then, of course.’


‘I see.’


‘But there wouldn’t be any difficulty about publication. He gave me it. If you’re interested.’


I said cautiously, ‘We might be. Whereabouts is Mr Houston now?’


‘He is in Barbados.’


‘You’re in touch with him, are you?’


‘Oh, yes. This is his flat. He still pays the rent. I went out to see him a few years ago – three years ago. He was in Jamaica then. I had just had another go of this bronchitis, and he invited me out, at his expense . . . Of course, he is a very wealthy man now.’


‘Is he?’


‘Oh, yes. He left Tibet with about half a million pounds. I expect he could have had very much more if he’d been able to carry it. He knows where the rest is.’


‘I see,’ I said again.


I didn’t, of course. But presently, as Mr Oliphant explained further, a few items did seem to fall into place. It is easier now to remember than to describe the dry gusto of his manner – perhaps if the reader will imagine a beardless version of Bernard Shaw sitting in a grey stuff dressing-gown over an electric fire in a darkening October afternoon he will come somewhere near it – as he recalled these items. But even in reflection his gusto is odd. Mr Oliphant had led, I suppose, up to that time a blameless enough life, chaste, continent, fairly legal; one, at all events, far removed from rapine and murder, abortion and sacred prostitution. Perhaps he had encountered worse in his classical readings; perhaps he was merely amused that I should find this story alive and those in his favourite literature dead. Or perhaps there was quite another reason. I have thought about it often since.


It must have been a little after four when I had arrived, and it was getting on for six when I left. Mr Oliphant had another attack of coughing in between.


I said anxiously, ‘You’re quite sure someone is coming to see you? I could very easily—’


‘Not at all. I assure you . . .’ he said weakly.


‘Well. I’ll leave you, then.’


‘Yes. Yes. Just take the first two exercise books, won’t you? I want to read the others. And come again.’


‘Certainly. I’d like to.’


He didn’t really want to talk any more, but just before I left I felt constrained to ask one more question.


I said, ‘Mr Oliphant, I suppose he didn’t, Houston, ever believe any of this business himself, did he – the supernatural business?’


He had closed his eyes but he opened them again, very pale blue and somehow – how does one describe it? – again sly.


‘Oh, no. No, he didn’t believe it. At least, I don’t think he did. He’s a very ordinary sort of chap, you know. Very ordinary . . . Odd, though, how it came about, wasn’t it?’


‘Very,’ I said.




*





I called on Mr Oliphant several times more in succeeding weeks – as will be narrated in the proper place – and on some other people also. But it was not till the following May, after much had passed, that we commissioned from Professor Felix Bourgès-Vallerin of the Department of Oriental Studies of the Sorbonne his account of the significance of the years 1949–51 in Tibetan affairs.


Because this account must also be considered an indispensable part of the backgd, I give it, however, not in its chronological place, but here.
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BY PROF. F. BOURGÈS-VALLERIN (Abridged.) . . . The year 1949, corresponding with that of Earth-Bull in its Sixteenth cycle, was for Tibet one of long-predicted ill-omen. The events associated with it had indeed been foretold for more than two and a half centuries; latterly with such elaboration of detail that four of the largest monasteries had seriously advocated changing the calendar in an attempt to avert them.


The Tibetan calendar, derived from the Indian and the Chinese, relies upon a combination of elements and animals to designate individual years. Thus, 1948 was Earth-Mouse, 1949 Earth-Bull, 1950 Iron-Tiger, and 1951 Iron-Hare. There are five elements (earth, iron, water, wood, fire) and twelve animals (hare, dragon, serpent, horse, sheep, monkey, bird, dog, pig, mouse, bull, tiger). Each element appears in sequence twice, first to designate a ‘male’ year and then a ‘female’ one. The calendar makes a complete cycle every sixty years.


Because certain combinations (wood-dragon, earth-bull, fire-tiger) have traditionally been considered inauspicious, they have attracted over the centuries a considerable body of prediction. Most of the forecast events have come off, notably the Nepalese invasion of 1791, the British Younghusband expedition of 1904 and the Chinese invasion of 1910. Those that have not come off are said to have been ‘averted’.


No single year had ever produced so ominous a body of prediction, however, as that of Earth-Bull in its present cycle.


The events would be heralded, it was said, by a comet clearly visible from the three principal cities of Lhasa, Shigatse and Gyantse. Four catastrophes would then follow in strict order: a mountain would move; the Tsangpo river would be hurled from its course; the country would be overrun by terror; and the line of the Dalai Lamas would end.


While all these predictions were of some antiquity, that concerning the Dalai Lama was the most venerable. A succession of oracles had foretold that the line would end with the Thirteenth. In fact, the Thirteenth had died in 1935, and his successor, a four-year-old boy had been recognised in 1939. By 1949, however, the year of Earth-Bull, he would still be under age and legally incapable of assuming full powers as spiritual and temporal head of the country.


Because of the alarming nature of these predictions, corroboration was sought from the oracles attached to the most important provincial monasteries. Their findings were entirely in line with those of the State Oracle; indeed they were able to provide considerable elaboration.


Thus, the female oracle of Yamdring could state with precision that for her monastery the tribulations would begin in the sixth month of Earth-Bull (August 1949); and that between then and the ‘terror’, the monastery would have a visitation, ‘from beyond the sunset’, of a past conqueror of the country who would carry away the abbess together with the monastery treasure.


(The visitor was expected to be an incarnation of the Tartar prince Hu-Tzung, who in 1717 had invaded from the north-east, sacked the province of Hodzo and only withdrawn when the abbess of Yamdring had given herself to him. Because he had accepted the abbess’s favours, this prince was subsequently struck dead by Chen-Rezi, the God-Protector of Tibet. For according to tradition, the abbess was divine – a benevolent she-devil who had been the original inhabitant of the Himalayan plateau, before a wandering monkey from India had lured her from her cave, coupled with her on an island in the Yamdring lake, and thus fathered the Tibetan people.)


Other monasteries produced equally gloomy predictions, one of them (the country’s second largest, at Sera) providing, however, an important variant. This was that the ‘terror’ mentioned in the forecast would not take place actually in Earth-Bull, but in the following year, Iron-Tiger, and would begin in the first week of the eighth month (October 1950).


Faced with these lowering and increasingly refined predictions, the Regent convened a cabinet of five ministers. It met in April 1948, and by midsummer had drawn up a number of provisions.


To placate the devils who lived in the mountains, a national spiritual effort would be made: this would take the form of prayers and offerings throughout the country. In addition, so that the devils might be offered no provocation, nomads would be forbidden their traditional right to winter at the foot of the mountains.


In the event of the devils refusing placation (that is, if a mountain did move or the Tsangpo were hurled from its course) further measures would have to be taken to avert the remaining predictions.


Since by ‘terror’ it was assumed a new Chinese invasion was meant, it would be necessary to examine all circumstances that might give the Chinese a reason to invade. All contacts with the Western world should be reduced, and all foreigners who could be regarded as ‘Western imperialists’ dismissed.


Since at the time only five Europeans were living on a permanent basis in Tibet, all of them in day-to-day contact with the government, the cabinet could see no reason for immediate action in this respect.


The five Europeans were: Hugh Richardson, Reginald Fox, Robert Ford, Heinrich Harrer and Peter Aufschneiter.


Richardson was the head of the newly created Indian Government Mission; although an Englishman he was acting for another Asian power, and one moreover that had just thrown off the imperialist yoke: he thus enjoyed the highest diplomatic status.


Fox and Ford were radio operators on contract; it would be enough merely to let their contracts expire. Harrer and Aufschneiter were ex-prisoners of war who had escaped from a British war-time camp in India; they had no official standing and could be turned out at a moment’s notice.


For the moment, therefore, all was under control. However, if despite everything, the Chinese did invade, one last and rather more awesome step would be necessary. Seven hundred years of tradition would have to be flouted and the Dalai Lama installed while still under age, to ensure the succession.


This was not a step that any of the ministers cared to plan in detail; but since they had done everything that could be expected of them, the weeks-long meeting adjourned. The Regent set himself to watch the course that events would take.


It is a matter of historical record that they took exactly the one predicted.


In October 1948, the comet appeared, causing widespread alarm and disorders in Lhasa, Shigatse and Gyantse. In July and August 1949 the ‘mountain moved’, an enormous seismic disturbance that affected the entire Himalayan region and diverted the Tsangpo eight miles from its course. (It ‘moved’ again even more formidably the following August.) And in October 1950 (in the ‘first week of the eighth month of Iron-Tiger’ as the oracle of Sera had predicted) the Chinese duly invaded.


Faced with this final disaster, the Regent took his ‘last step’. On 12 November the under-age Dalai Lama was formally installed as Head of State – and three weeks later, on 9 December, fled.


Such the predictions and such the record for the year of Earth-Bull.


Whether the many regional predictions were similarly fulfilled must remain a matter for speculation. Among refugees on Indian-controlled border territory, however, there appeared to be a substantial belief, early in 1951, that some at least of the predicted events had taken place; in particular those forecast for the Yamdring monastery.


A report in the Calcutta Amrita Bazar Patrika of 3 February that year quotes one refugee: ‘Certainly the troubles at Yamdring began in the sixth month of Earth-Bull . . . As everyone knows the abbess was abducted and with her treasure to the value of four crores of rupees’ (three million pounds sterling).


The story was taken up by other newspapers and caused a good deal of speculation (and some political upsets) over the meaning of the phrase in the prediction ‘a visitation from beyond the sunset’. Some editorialists felt it could only mean ‘from the west’, and that since the Chinese had indisputably attacked from the north and the east, the oracle must have foreseen depredations from Ladakh on Tibet’s western border.


This was bitterly denied (9 February) by a partisan member of the Lok Sabha, the Indian Lower House, who rejected the ‘foul insinuations of certain people in Calcutta who can only ascribe to Ladakhis the base motives that would actuate them in similar circumstances. It is beyond question that any Ladakhi or Kashmiri could have lent himself to the looting of monasteries . . .’


Despite this and other denials, the Indian Press kept the story alive for several weeks, titillated, even in the midst of such tragic horrors, by the strange tale of an abducted abbess and of four crores of rupees.


As the weather in the border territory grew warmer, however, and the refugees began to drift back to their own devil-haunted mountains, the reports tailed off. By June of 1951 they had quite finished.


F. B.–V. PARIS


1960              




*





That was the month Charles Houston arrived back in London on his stretcher. He had been away seventeen months. It felt, he said, like as many years.

















Chapter One
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In the summer of 1949, when he was twenty-seven, Houston found himself having an affair with a married woman. She was thirty, and he was not in love with her, and he had gone into it only because he was bored and lonely. He didn’t think that the affair would outlast the summer, but it did, and by the autumn, when he started school again, he was wondering how to end it. He was a bit disgusted with himself.


Houston was living at this time at Baron’s Court in the flat which he shared with his half-brother Hugh, who was two years younger and a good deal noisier and rather inclined to take his shirts and his handkerchieves when he was home. Hugh was not at home. He was in India. He had gone in June, with a film unit, had gone very hurriedly, for permission had come through at the last moment; and one effect had been that Houston’s holiday plans had had to be altered. He had been going to spend a month with his half-brother walking in France.


As it was he had decided to stay at home and have a look round the galleries and do a bit of painting; and he would have done this if it had not happened to be the hottest summer in London for ten years. Instead, his days began to follow a familiar indolent pattern.


He got up every morning and let the char in, and ate his breakfast and read the paper. After this he fiddled with a sketch and then he went out and had a drink.


From time to time he went to parties. He even held one himself in the flat. But the people bored him; they were Hugh’s friends rather than his own. He felt himself very much older than his brother.


At two of the parties in a single week however, he encountered Glynis, and on both occasions found himself wondering about her and about her small and quarrelsome and very drunk husband.


She was tall and somewhat self-conscious about her height; she stooped a little and wore flat shoes. But her face had about it a fey and unprotected character that appealed to Houston most strongly.


She lived with her husband at Fulham, quite close to Baron’s Court, and after debating with himself for a couple of days, Houston had telephoned her.


It was an afternoon in July, a high blue day of reeling heat. Houston told her he was going to Roehampton.


‘Lucky you.’


‘Why don’t you come?’


A pause. ‘Oh, I think not.’


‘Can’t you swim?’


‘Yes, I can swim.’


‘I’ll pick you up, then.’


That was how it started. Years later the whole of that curious and aimless summer seemed to crystallise for him in the single moment; the moment of replacing the receiver in the hot empty flat and of feeling the first faint lurch: of excitement, disgust, apprehension.
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He remembered very well the heart-searchings of that summer, the times he had taken stock of his position.


He had four hundred pounds in the bank, the lease of the flat, and his job as an art teacher at the Edith Road Girls’ Secondary School in Fulham; it was because of the job that he had taken the near-by flat.


He had got in the habit over the years of looking after his brother. When he had come out of the Navy in 1946 he had thought of staking himself for a year with his gratuity and the money his mother had left him, and setting up as a full-time artist. If the worst came to the worst he knew he could always teach. But then Hugh had in turn been released from the service and had got himself a job with the film company at five pounds a week, and Houston had had to postpone setting up as an artist; he had gone instead to the Edith Road Girls’ Secondary, had signed for the flat, and kept Hugh for a couple of years.


His brother, of course, no longer needed keeping. He was earning more than double Houston’s income, and cheerfully spending it. Houston didn’t blame him. He knew that if he wanted, Hugh would stop frittering his money and keep him in turn. He could give the sailor’s farewell to the Head of the Edith Road Girls’ Secondary, a woman he deplored, and on any propitious day set up as an artist.


Why then, he wondered, didn’t he? Houston didn’t know why. He felt very lax. He had a lowering feeling that he had somehow missed the bus, that some of the virtue had gone out of him in the past year. He didn’t want to paint quite as much as he used to. He was obscurely disinclined to have his brother keep him. He didn’t know what he wanted.


In the middle of July, he thought it might be a woman; but by the middle of August knew that it wasn’t that, either.


2


It wasn’t till the middle of September that he began to worry consciously about his brother; but once he started he knew that he must have been worrying for some time. He knew that location work would have finished in Calcutta and that the unit would have moved up into the foothills of Everest. The film was of an attempt to climb the mountain. Mail would be carried by runner and was bound to be irregular. By the middle of September, however, he had not had any for a month. He didn’t know what to do about it. He didn’t want to ring up the film company, which seemed to him a fussy thing to do. He thought he would wait a bit.


He waited a week, and then didn’t care whether it was fussy or not.


The girl on the switchboard put him through to a secretary. The secretary put him through to a Mr Stahl.


Houston had heard of this Mr Stahl; he thought he was one of the chiefs of the company. He was somewhat taken about to be connected so instantly with the great man.


‘Who is this?’ said a quiet voice.


‘Mr Houston – about Hugh Whittington,’ he heard the secretary’s voice say on the line.


‘Oh, yes. Mr Houston. I am spending the day on the telephone,’ the American voice said dryly to somebody in the background. ‘We have received a cable, Mr Houston. I thought you would care to hear it.’ He began to read the cable in soft, uninflected tones before Houston was properly aware of the sense of it. It seemed that a party of sixty-six people had been sighted below the west face of a mountain; they were on a rough trail that connected with a trade route. It was not yet known if this route was blocked.


‘It’s signed Lister-Lawrence,’ Stahl said. ‘He’s the British representative in Calcutta, and our only source of information at the moment. Of course, we are sending a man to the frontier as soon as possible, but it will be a day or two before we hear anything. The earthquake destroyed all the telegraph lines.’


‘The earthquake did,’ Houston said, dazed, and felt the telephone begin to tremble against his ear.


‘Apparently it was quite a severe one. We surmise it blocked their route back and they’re going round the mountain. However, we’re very optimistic. With the local people hired out there, our party should come to sixty-six . . .’


The conversation went on for perhaps a minute or two more, and Houston made the necessary responses, but could not afterwards recall what else had been said. He put the phone down presently and stared at it in stupefaction.


This was the first that he heard of the earthquake.
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Hugh had been eight and he ten when they had first realised there was something a bit different about them. That was when he had gone away to boarding school and Hugh had been too young to follow. He had been sick all the term, and Hugh had been sick too, and he had been taken away from that school and the experiment never repeated. He had thought himself over it during the war when they had been parted once for fifteen months without ill effects. But neither had been in any real danger during the war. He had a sensation of danger now.
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By the end of September he had heard a good deal more about his brother. He had heard that he was safe, that the film party was resting in a village, but that their return might be held up by three casualties, none of them, however, very serious.


He had heard all this in three conversations with Stahl’s secretary, a young woman called Lesley Sellers, with whom he was now on the best of telephone terms.


She rang him again on a Monday at the beginning of October, at school, and asked how he was sustaining himself. Houston said very well and inquired what news she had.


‘The best, wonder boy,’ said the young woman. ‘They’re on the way back. The boss heard from Lister-Lawrence last night, and he’s expecting a call from Radkewicz some time tomorrow.’


Houston let out his breath; for Radkewicz was the director of the unit and this was news indeed.


He said, ‘Where will he be calling from?’


‘From Calcutta. A plane has been laid on for them there, so they should be home very soon. I thought you’d like to know.’


‘Well, thanks. Thanks very much.’


‘Is that all the bearer of glad tidings gets – thanks?’


‘What else had you in mind?’


‘Oh, I’d leave that to you. You could tell me when we met. We haven’t yet, have we?’


Her voice was uncomfortably audible in the listening common room. Houston said quietly, ‘Perhaps the first thing would be to organise that. When do you suggest?’


She had told him her suggestion, and a couple of nights later, for the first time, he had met her.
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She was waiting on the corner of Wardour Street, a little, pretty, lively thing, shivering in her fur collar in the gusty evening. She put her arm through his without self-consciousness and they walked into Soho.


‘So you’re the artist?’


‘That’s right.’


‘You’re not much like Hugh, are you?’


‘We’re only half-brothers.’


‘I wonder who got the best of the bargain.’


Houston liked her. She had a sideways look that was provocative without being challenging; a small elfin mobile face. They turned into Gennaro’s, and examining her more clearly in the light he wondered why he had never met her. He had met most of the people Hugh worked with. He asked her about it.


‘Oh, well,’ she said. ‘I’m not a girl who likes to compete.’


‘Who would you be competing with?’


‘Sheila, wouldn’t you say?’


‘Sheila?’


‘Sheila Wolferston.’ She glanced at him. ‘You know about her.’


He could dimly remember a Sheila at a party, but he didn’t know what there was, particularly, to know about her.


He said, ‘You mean they’re very friendly?’


‘That’s what I mean.’


‘Does she work at the office?’


‘Yes. Well. Not just now. She’s out there with the unit – the broken leg. Didn’t you really know?’ she asked, looking at him curiously.


‘No,’ Houston said lightly; but he was oddly disturbed. He wondered why Hugh hadn’t mentioned the girl.


But he enjoyed the evening; and he thought he liked her better than most of Hugh’s friends. He took her home, to Maida Vale, and loitered for a while in the hall of the block of flats.


‘Perhaps we’ll see a bit more of each other now,’ she said.


‘Yes. I’d like that.’


‘The only thing is, my life is a tiny bit complicated at the moment.’


‘Mine, too.’


They looked at each other, smiling.


Houston leaned over and kissed her. He expected a cool and light-hearted response; and got rather more.


‘Perhaps we’d better start uncomplicating,’ she said after a moment.


‘Perhaps we’d better.’


She had told him that a reception was being held for the unit if it returned, as expected, on the Saturday, and they agreed to meet there.


‘Back to your complication, then, wonder boy,’ she said lightly. ‘I expect I’ll ring you on Thursday.’


But she rang before that.


She rang on the Wednesday, and she asked if he could call that afternoon to see Stahl.


He said, ‘I don’t know. I suppose so,’ confused for the moment. ‘Do you know what it’s about?’


‘I think he’d better tell you himself. Would three o’clock be all right?’


‘Yes. Yes. All right.’
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He saw by her face that the news was not good, but asked no questions. She showed him in immediately to see Stahl.


He had not met him before, and was surprised by what he saw. Despite the authority of his voice, the director was a small man, almost a midget; a little spare bag of bones. He had a beaky nose with a red ridge across it, and a curious condition of the eyes that kept them moving ceaselessly behind their gold-rimmed spectacles. He came round the large desk to shake Houston’s hand.


‘Sit down. Cigarette. I have some disappointing news for you, I’m afraid,’ he said directly.


Houston took the cigarette without speaking, and tried to keep it still as Stahl lit it for him with a big desk lighter.


‘There’s been a slight hold-up. Your brother won’t be coming back this week.’


Houston stared at him, licking his lips. He said, ‘He’s not ill, or injured or anything . . .’


‘Oh, no. On the contrary. He’s staying to look after the ones who are. Mr Radkewicz, our director, was in a hurry to move on. The passes out there start getting snowed up early, and he had bulky equipment to shift. He felt it would take another two or three weeks for the casualties to mend satisfactorily, so they’re remaining till they do. Your brother opted to remain with them.’


‘I see,’ Houston said. He found himself considerably disconcerted by the restless eyes. ‘I wonder why he should do that?’


Stahl smiled fractionally. ‘I guess because he’s a good-natured boy,’ he said. ‘There isn’t any danger, if that’s worrying you. They’ll have adequate transport and guides and so forth and the passes are negotiable for ordinary purposes for most of the year. He thought they would appreciate a friendly face and someone who could speak English – although a few people in the monastery do speak a little, apparently.’


‘Monastery,’ Houston said. ‘What monastery?’


‘The one they’re staying in. In Tibet. You know this, of course,’ he said, watching Houston’s face.


Since it was obvious Houston didn’t, he took the cigarette from his mouth, coughing anxiously. ‘Oh, pardon me. I thought I told you. Didn’t I mention the route was blocked so they had to go round the mountain?’


‘Well, yes,’ Houston said. ‘Yes, you did mention that.’


‘Why,’ Stahl said, smiling again slightly, ‘you go round a mountain anywhere in those parts, you’re liable to find yourself in Tibet. That’s what they did.’


Silence fell in the room. Houston observed his lengthening cigarette ash slowly curl and drop on the carpet.


‘Now really, Mr Houston,’ Stahl said, getting him an ashtray, ‘I wouldn’t worry about this. Sure, Tibet sounds very strange, very remote. But where is remote these days? Last night I talked with Radkewicz in Calcutta. And in forty-eight hours Radkewicz will be right here with me in this room. Believe me, nowhere today is remote.’


‘Quite,’ Houston said. He wasn’t sure he’d got it yet. ‘Do you happen to know whereabouts this monastery is?’


‘Certainly. I have it right here,’ Stahl said, rummaging on his desk. ‘I understand it’s a fine place. They’re very comfortable there. They have good food, doctors, everything. It’s actually,’ he said, adjusting his glasses to examine the unfamiliar words on the paper, ‘a monastery for women.’


But the name when he read it out meant nothing at all to Houston.


‘What they call it,’ Stahl said, ‘is Yamdring.’
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The reception for the returned members of the unit took place at the Savoy Hotel on Saturday, 8 October 1949. It was a lively party, with relatives and Press, and even though his brother wouldn’t be at it, Houston went. He spoke to Radkewicz and to a cameraman called Kelly, a friend of his brother’s, and to some others, and what they told him should have satisfied him. As Stahl had said, the monastery for women was an excellent place. They had been well looked after, the food was good, there were doctors, everything. Tibet was not at all as expected; in the valleys, in the summer, it had been lush, with crops in the fields, and people tending the crops, pleasant, friendly people. For the members of the unit it had been just another place; a rather more welcoming place, in the circumstances, than the one they had left, but one that was physically not unlike it.


Kelly had greatly taken to the inhabitants.


‘Very fine wogs,’ he said. ‘I wish we could have stayed longer, but there was stuff to be humped. Several of our own wogs refused to come. They stayed on for a festival there.’


Kelly was not sure what kind of a festival; but it was to have taken place in the middle of September.


‘They were getting worked up for it when we left – prayer wheels going like the clappers and everything getting a scrub-out. Ah, a wonderful place entirely,’ Kelly said.


And indeed it sounded wonderful as he described it. The village of Yamdring lay at the bottom of a valley. The monastery was built into the hillside, terraced on seven rising levels. They had seen it first from a hill half a mile above, and the sun had glinted on its seven golden roofs. An oval lake, emerald green, lay below it with an island in the middle. On the island was a small shrine with a green roof; a bridge of skin boats connected the island with the mainland. They had looked down on it in the late afternoon, and a procession had been passing over the bridge.


‘Always having processions,’ Kelly said. ‘Lovely people. Childish really.’
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It had been after nine when they left, too late to go anywhere, too early to make their separate ways. Houston took the girl home.


‘Come in and have a drink.’


‘All right,’ Houston said, and went up with her.


It was a bright, modern little flat, unlike his own somewhat rambling apartment; and more cluttered.


‘Don’t mind the mixture of styles,’ she told him, removing his coat. ‘There are three of us here, each with our bits of junk.’


‘Friends or relations?’


‘Oh, friends. Bachelor girls, as they say. Gin and something?’


‘And tonic.’


‘Sit down and brood. You’ve been brooding on your feet all evening.’


Houston sat down and brooded.


‘Your drink’s on the arm of the sofa,’ the girl said presently.


‘Thanks.’


‘All right now?’


‘Fine.’ He felt very far from fine. He had begun to tremble inexplicably in every limb. But he realised from the girl’s question and earlier quiet hints that he might be demonstrating rather more concern than the situation called for, so he smiled wryly and said, ‘You’ve got to look after young brothers.’


‘You two are fairly close, aren’t you?’


‘Fairly.’


‘Well, everything seems all right. He should be home quite soon, shouldn’t he?’


‘Oh, sure. Sure.’


‘Are you cold in here? You’re shivering a bit.’


‘I must have taken a chill,’ Houston said. He didn’t know what had come over him, but he knew it was not a chill. He had an urge to get out and walk about in the street; he felt restless and suffocated in the flat.


‘Any warmer now?’ she asked some time later.


‘Yes,’ Houston said, and he was, for the young woman was lying in his arms. ‘When are your co-bachelors coming back?’


‘Oh, later.’


Something in her voice made him deduce that they would not be coming back at all that night. He had a suspicion also that he was meant to deduce this. He didn’t think he wanted to do anything about it at the moment. He left quite early.


The girl went with him to the door, somewhat nonplussed.


‘I think you’d better take care of that cold.’


‘I will.’


‘Bed’s the place for you,’ she said, tentatively.


Houston smiled. ‘I’m going right to it,’ he said.


But he didn’t. He went for a long walk instead. It amused him that he had got along without women for quite a long time and now suddenly found himself with two. It had been like this for him on some occasions during the war. He wondered if he was the sort of man who turned to women at moments of crisis; and he wondered what the crisis was now. Hugh was coming back. He was coming back at the end of the month. All he had to do was get through the month.
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When he looked back on it later, Houston remembered October chiefly as the month when he tried to get rid of Glynis. It was not a successful attempt. There were tears and recriminations, and also threats, for the girl said she couldn’t live without him. Houston, like many artists far from being a romantic, thought that she very easily could if she put her mind to it; but when he saw the pain in her eyes could not bring himself to take the final step.


He had told Lesley Sellers that he was now uncomplicated; for, as she said, she was a girl who didn’t like competition; and accordingly found his life more complicated than ever. His encounters with the Head grew no less acrimonious; he was permanently behind with a series of art appreciation classes that he had to prepare for an evening school; and ideas had run out on him permanently for his freelance work. He seemed to be scrambling about on an increasingly slippery slope. Everything about his life had become suddenly insecure and uncertain. He couldn’t understand how it had happened.


He found himself beginning to lean heavily on Oliphant, the classics master, a bachelor like himself, whose astringency of manner he found refreshing.


‘Do you find yourself able to make any plans these days, Oliphant?’


‘I never make plans.’


‘Something curious seems to be happening to me. I don’t know where the hell I am lately.’


‘Maybe you’re in love.’


‘Maybe I am. I wish I could think of something I particularly wanted to do.’


‘I should like to move to a bigger flat and to spend Christmas in Rome.’


And suddenly everybody was talking about Christmas.


‘Where are you jingling your bells this year, wonder boy?’


‘I’ve not really got round to that.’


‘I rather see myself in Paris. Any interest?’


‘It sounds very attractive.’


‘Let me know soon. I need to fix my family early.’


And only hours later, it seemed. ‘Charles, I’ve been thinking. Roy wants to go to Bournemouth for Christmas. We go to the same hotel every year. Do you think you could turn up there accidentally, too?’


‘I don’t know, Glynis. It depends on Hugh a bit. I’d have to see what he wanted.’


‘Well, naturally. I see that. Do you think he might like to come, too?’


‘He might,’ Houston said, doubting it very strongly.


‘When do you think you would know about him?’


‘I’m not really sure. I’ve not heard much lately.’


He had not heard anything. It was now the third week of October and there had been no news whatever. Lesley said that Lister-Lawrence was not expecting any special news. There was no question now of a missing party. The group would merely arrive on Indian territory. They would probably arrive between the 25th and the 30th when a trade caravan was expected.


The 25th came without news; and the 30th went, without news. Lesley said that Lister-Lawrence was away investigating a riot. In all probability the group was now on the way to Calcutta. They would very likely hear from them before they heard from Lister-Lawrence.


This, however, did not prove to be the case. On 2 November a cable arrived from Lister-Lawrence. He said the expected caravan had arrived on the 29th. No British subjects had arrived with it. He was making inquiries.


Houston entered upon the nightmarish month of November 1949.
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It was during this month, he realised later, that the abbot and the Duke of Ganzing and the Governor of Hodzo had found themselves in their most delicate situation. The governor had felt earlier that he could handle the matter locally and had not thought fit to communicate with the central government. In this he had shown an error of judgement, and he was not anxious to have it revealed. He had therefore concurred with the abbot’s plan, which was merely to say nothing until requests for information came from Lhasa; and then to announce that the party was missing.


By the middle of November he was wishing most earnestly that he had not concurred. The governor was an elderly man, and he had the clearest possible recollection of the British who had come with Colonel Younghusband forty-five years before. They were inquisitive men, who never stopped asking questions. They believed there was a reason for everything, and they were restless until they had found it. That four people were missing for some weeks on an ice-bound mountain would not seem to such men an adequate reason for giving up either the search or the inquiry into the party’s disappearance.


Above all, as the governor well knew, it was essential that foreigners should be discouraged from taking an interest in his country in this ominous year. So long as there was a possibility of any of the group being alive, interest would be taken. He had therefore, towards the middle of the month, come to a worrying decision.


The news went to Lhasa on 19 November and was radioed to Kalimpong on the 24th. Lister-Lawrence had it in Calcutta on the 25th, and passed it on to Stahl in London the same day.


But of all this at the time, of course, Houston knew nothing.
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All he did know as November wore on was that his days were filled with activities which were becoming increasingly meaningless. He found himself going through the weeks like an automaton. He taught and corrected and lectured; and in the evenings did the same. Sometimes he made love. He had started making love with Lesley Sellers, but once in the course of twenty-four hours found himself doing the same with Glynis also. He regarded this performance with a somewhat weary hilarity.


He didn’t know what was the matter with him. He couldn’t bear to be by himself. His limbs seemed always to be tense, and he caught himself holding his breath. He couldn’t sit and he couldn’t lie. He couldn’t read and he couldn’t eat. Above all, he couldn’t sleep.


He knew that Stahl was in constant touch with Calcutta; and that Lister-Lawrence was in touch with Kalimpong; and that the Tibetan representative there was in touch with his government. Everybody was in touch with everybody else, but nobody knew what had happened to the missing party.


He went to see Stahl again. He asked whether it wasn’t time now for inquiries to be handled officially by the Foreign Office. Stahl said inquiries were being handled officially; Lister-Lawrence was an official. But the Foreign Office couldn’t be involved because the film party had no right to be in Tibet at all. They had gone in – certainly through no fault of their own – without authorisation and hence at their own peril. The situation was difficult and obscure. It was causing him a great deal of worry, but he had no doubt they would have news soon.


This interview had taken place on 18 November; and the news had come one week later to the day: 25 November 1949, a Friday. Houston went out and got drunk. He remained drunk all the week-end.


He thought Glynis came in at some time on the Saturday; the flat was certainly tidy when he awoke on Sunday morning. She came again later, and he found her cleaning him up, and was aware presently that Lesley Sellers was there, too. He was in something of a stupor at the time, but he remembered thinking that it was very improper for the two young women to be there together. He realised he should have asked Glynis for the return of her key weeks ago; and that something must have gone sadly wrong with his planning. He heard snatches of their conversation.


‘I guessed it must have been that. When did it happen?’


‘Two or three weeks ago, apparently, but we only heard on Friday. The avalanche buried them all.’


‘They found the – they found them, did they?’


‘Oh, yes. They were all dead.’


‘Poor Charles. They were so terribly close.’


‘Yes.’
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He had no recollection of the next week at all. He thought he went to school. Perhaps he attended his evening classes, too. He seemed to be out a good deal. He vaguely remembered having a fight with a man in a public house in Tottenham Court Road, and waking up one night in the tube terminus at Morden. He had confused impressions of both girls wanting him to go away somewhere.


And then it was December, and half a year had gone since he had seen his brother last; and everyone was telling him to pull himself together; and at length had had done this. He had gone in to see the Head and told her he would not be returning next term. And he had written to the LCC Further Education authorities, telling them the same.


Then Lesley was asking finally and once and for all if he wouldn’t come to Paris because it would take him out of himself; and Glynis was asking in the same terms if he wouldn’t come to Bournemouth. And he thanked them both for their charity and forbearance and said that he wouldn’t; he meant to spend Christmas by himself.


And this was just as well; for on the afternoon before Christmas Eve, another Friday, when he was only mildly drunk, he had received a visitor. Stahl had telephoned first, at about a quarter to four; and at a quarter past his black chauffeur-driven Bentley had pulled up outside in the rain.


He had refused a drink, his restless eyes jerking spasmodically over Houston’s dishevelled figure, but had accepted a cigarette, and sat down looking round the room.


‘What I’ve got to say,’ he said flatly, ‘might not strike you as being particularly seasonal. I thought you might like to ponder it over the holiday.’


Houston said nothing. He wanted another drink, but he had caught the disapproving look in the roving eyes and thought he had better wait.


‘We’ve run into a rather curious financial problem. I don’t know if your brother ever mentioned it, but we take out an insurance policy for our unit members. Of course we now have four claims pending. For ten thousand pounds each. It’s a lot of money.’


‘It is,’ Houston said. Hugh hadn’t mentioned it.


‘The snag is, I’ve now heard there’s going to be some difficulty in collecting. The terms of the policy are that the company must pay out for death anywhere in the world from any cause except act of war. The only qualification is that a death certificate has to be produced. This is something we don’t have.’


‘I see,’ Houston said dully, in the pause that developed. He didn’t think that he wanted now to discuss the question of indemnity for his brother’s death.


‘It seems the certificate can only be issued by a British consul or some other accredited official. And he can only issue it if he has evidence – a doctor’s certificate or a signed report. Lister-Lawrence can’t get this. Apparently no local functionary can sign anything at all in Tibet without the authority of the central government. And the central government doesn’t seem to be very interested.’


Stahl took off his glasses and rubbed his eyes wearily. ‘I don’t think there’s anything malicious in it,’ he said after a moment. ‘Lister-Lawrence takes the view that they’re merely nervous of any kind of foreign interest. He thinks they may be frightened of having to pay indemnity or of having to get into negotiations. Whatever it is, they’re not answering any inquiries, and the way it looks now no death certificate will be forthcoming.


‘Of course,’ he went on, replacing his glasses and allowing his eyes to get busily back into orbit, ‘this doesn’t mean that the insurance company won’t eventually pay up. After a period, death will have to be presumed. But this might be a matter of years, and meanwhile there could be many difficulties for the dependants. Wister’s wife has two young children. Meiklejohn and Miss Wolferston both leave widowed mothers. There are complications about pensions, a whole lot of things. Naturally, we have a responsibility in this. We are trying to ease the burden. But I’ve been wondering the past few days if there mightn’t be another way that is worth trying.’


He was silent for a few moments, watching Houston.


‘I was wondering’, he said, ‘if it wouldn’t be an idea for someone to go over there and see Lister-Lawrence. He’s a very busy man and he’s not been able to give this much of his time. If someone could have a talk with him, examine all the documents, perhaps get in touch with the Tibetan representative out there, it might be possible to build up a dossier that could, at the least, hasten the presumption of death. I was wondering’, he said slowly, ‘if you’d like to do it.’


Houston looked quickly down at his burning cigarette.


‘You’d be acting as a kind of plenipotentiary or agent for all of the dependants,’ Stahl said. ‘Naturally, they’d contribute to your expenses. I don’t know that they’d have anything very much to contribute at the moment—’


‘I don’t know that I have myself,’ Houston said. ‘I’d better say right away, Mr Stahl, I’m not very – interested in indemnity for my brother’s death.’


‘Why,’ Stahl said mildly, ‘I was thinking more of the other claimants than of you. Pardon me. I appreciate your feelings, of course. I merely thought you were in the best position – a healthy young fellow with no ties. But it was just an idea.’


Houston gazed at him and his mouth dropped open. He had not thought of this aspect of it.


‘And as to money, I don’t think you need worry there. Your brother had salary coming from June. We’d be prepared to extend that to the end of March next, and to contribute to your expenses. Think it over, anyway.’


‘I will,’ Houston said, taken aback by this new view of the situation.


He thought it over for the next three days. He had made the decision by the time the office workers were streaming back after the holiday, and had telephoned Stahl to tell him so.


‘Of course,’ Stahl said. ‘I knew you would. When do you want to go?’


‘As soon as possible. I’ve got nothing to keep me here.’
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Which was how, that winter, after many unsettling months, Houston came to embark upon his adventure. He had not visited any swamis. He knew nothing of Tibetan prophecies. He was a very ordinary young man who at the time, certainly, claimed no pre-knowledge of the extraordinary thing that was going to happen to him.


He said good-bye to the two young women who had served to distract him during the restless months and promised each of them that he would mend his ways with regard to the other. He offered the use of his flat to Oliphant for he knew the older man was uncomfortable in his own. And as the beneficiary of an eventual ten thousand pounds, he made a will.


He did all these things before 24 January 1950; and early in the morning of 25 January he walked out with his bag into Fitzmaurice Crescent and whistled for a taxi to take him to the air terminal in Kensington High Street. He thought he would be taking one back again within two months.
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